

Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1984

Current as at 30 March 2017



Queensland

Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1984

Contents

| | | Page |
|-------------|---|------|
| Part 1 | Preliminary | |
| 1 | Short title | 3 |
| 4 | Definitions | 3 |
| Part 2 | Office of Director of Public Prosecutions | |
| Division 1 | Director of Public Prosecutions and Office | |
| 4A | The Director of Public Prosecutions and Office | 4 |
| Division 1A | Provisions about director of public prosecutions | |
| 5 | Appointment of director | 4 |
| 6 | Termination of director's appointment | 5 |
| 7 | Other employment curtailed | 5 |
| 10 | Functions of director | 5 |
| 10A | Guidelines by Attorney-General | 7 |
| 11 | Powers of director | 7 |
| 12 | Referral of charge to director | 8 |
| 13 | Assistance for director | 9 |
| 15 | Judicial notice of director's signature | 9 |
| 16 | Annual report of director | 10 |
| Division 2 | Deputy directors of prosecutions | |
| 17 | Appointment of deputy directors of public prosecutions | 10 |
| 19 | Conditions of appointment | 10 |
| 20 | Termination of appointments | 11 |
| 21 | Suspension and removal from office | 11 |
| 22 | Authority of Governor in Council to remove etc. | 12 |
| Division 3 | Crown prosecutors and other officers assisting director | |
| 23 | Appointment of officers | 14 |
| Part 3 | Miscellaneous | |
| 23A | Delegation by director | 14 |

Contents

| 24 | Appointees to offices authorised to present indictments | 14 |
|-----|---|----|
| 24A | Prohibition on disclosure of information | 15 |
| 24B | Criminal history checks | 16 |
| 24C | Disclosures by police officers | 16 |
| 25 | Protection of persons executing Act | 17 |
| 27 | Director's professional involvement no bar | 17 |
| 28 | Retention of rights as public servant | 18 |
| 29 | Entitlement of certain persons to appointment under Crown | 20 |
| 30 | Meaning of expression prescribed office | 22 |
| 31 | Provisions concerning superannuation | 22 |
| 32 | Administrative and financial control | 23 |
| 33 | Regulation-making power | 23 |
| 34 | Director of prosecutions references etc. | 23 |
| 35 | Director of Prosecutions Act 1984 references | 23 |
| | | |

[s 1]

Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1984

An Act to provide for the office of Director of Public Prosecutions and for related purposes

Part 1 Preliminary

1 Short title

This Act may be cited as the *Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1984*.

4 Definitions

In this Act—

Australian lawyer see the Legal Profession Act 2007, schedule 2.

criminal proceedings means—

- (a) proceedings on indictment for an offence defined in the Criminal Code; and
- (b) other proceedings on indictment; and
- (c) proceedings in the Supreme Court commenced by a person charged with an indictable offence in connection with the offence before the presentation of an indictment that charges the commission of the offence.

director means the Director of Public Prosecutions appointed under this Act.

lawyer means an Australian lawyer who, under the *Legal Profession Act 2007*, may engage in legal practice in this State.

[s 4A]

Part 2 Office of Director of Public Prosecutions

Division 1 Director of Public Prosecutions and Office

4A The Director of Public Prosecutions and Office

- (1) There is to be a Director of Public Prosecutions.
- (2) An office called the Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions is established.

Division 1A Provisions about director of public prosecutions

5 Appointment of director

- (1) The Governor in Council may appoint a person to be the director of public prosecutions.
- (1A) The person must be an Australian lawyer who has been admitted to practise for not less than 10 years.
 - (2) The director—
 - (a) shall be appointed for such term as the Governor in Council determines and specifies in the instrument of appointment; and
 - (b) shall be paid salary and allowances at such rate and be employed under such conditions of employment, including conditions as to leave entitlements, as the Governor in Council, upon the recommendation of the Minister, determines; and
 - (c) shall be eligible for reappointment upon the expiration of the director's term of appointment.

(3) The director is to be appointed under this Act, and not under the *Public Service Act 2008*.

6 Termination of director's appointment

- (1) The director may resign office by writing signed by the director and delivered to the Minister.
- (2) The Governor in Council may terminate the appointment of the director for misbehaviour or physical or mental incapacity.
- (3) The Governor in Council shall terminate the appointment of the director if—
 - (a) the director becomes bankrupt or takes advantage of the laws in force relating to bankruptcy; or
 - (b) the director is absent from duty, except on leave of absence to which the director is entitled under the conditions of the director's employment or granted by the Minister, for 14 consecutive working days, or for 28 working days in any period of 12 months; or
 - (c) the director contravenes section 7.
- (4) Termination of the appointment of director shall be by way of notification in writing signed by the Minister and given to the director personally or by post.

7 Other employment curtailed

The director shall not, without the consent of the Minister-

- (a) engage in the practice of the director's profession except in the exercise of the functions of the director's office; or
- (b) engage in paid employment outside the duties of the director's office.

10 Functions of director

(1) The director—

- (a) shall prepare, institute and conduct on behalf of and in the name of Her Majesty—
 - (i) criminal proceedings; and
 - (ii) proceedings in the Court of Appeal; and
 - (iii) proceedings in the High Court of Australia that arise out of criminal proceedings; and
- (b) shall prepare, institute and conduct on behalf of and in the name of Her Majesty or on behalf of and in the name of a complainant proceedings in the Court of Appeal being appeals against convictions before justices or penalties imposed by justices; and
- (c) shall, upon the direction of the Minister or of the director's own motion—
 - (i) prepare, institute and conduct an examination of witnesses in relation to an indictable offence before justices; and
 - (ii) take over and conduct proceedings in respect of a simple offence or in respect of an indictable offence being taken in a summary manner; and
- (d) shall, upon the direction of the Minister, assist on behalf of the Crown a coroner or instruct counsel assisting a coroner in an inquest under the *Coroners Act 1958* or the *Coroners Act 2003*; and
- (e) shall perform such duties as the director may be charged with by or under this Act or any other Act; and
- (f) shall perform such duties of a legal nature as the Minister may direct.
- (2) If the director, with the Minister's consent, holds an appointment, commission or authority to prosecute offences against the laws of the Commonwealth, the director may, under the terms of the appointment, commission or authority, prepare, institute and conduct—
 - (a) criminal proceedings for the offences; and

- (b) proceedings in the Court of Appeal or the High Court of Australia that arise out of the criminal proceedings.
- (3) In the discharge of his or her functions the director shall be responsible to the Minister but nothing in this section shall derogate from or limit the authority of the director in respect of the preparation, institution and conduct of proceedings.
- (4) In proceedings with which the director is concerned the director may appear in person or by a lawyer, whether from within the director's own office or in private practice.

10A Guidelines by Attorney-General

- (1) For exercising the director's functions under the *Criminal Proceeds Confiscation Act 2002*, the director is subject to any guidelines the Attorney-General issues in relation to the examination of a person under an examination order under that Act.
- (2) A guideline may not be furnished in relation to a particular case.
- (3) The Attorney-General must gazette the guidelines as soon as practicable after issuing them.
- (4) Also, the Attorney-General must table a copy of the guidelines in the Legislative Assembly within 14 sitting days after the guidelines are gazetted.

11 Powers of director

- (1) The director may, from time to time, do any of the following—
 - (a) furnish guidelines in writing to—
 - (i) crown prosecutors and other persons acting on the director's behalf; or
 - (ii) the commissioner of the police service; or
 - (iii) any other person;

with respect to prosecutions in respect of offences;

[s 12]

- (b) give directions to the commissioner of the police service and other persons with respect to the offences or classes of offences that are to be referred to the director for the institution and conduct of proceedings;
- (c) give guidelines to a person to whom section 24A(1) applies stating that specified information is confidential information for the purposes of section 24A.
- (1A) The power conferred by subsection (1)(a) does not authorise the director to furnish guidelines of a description referred to therein in relation to a particular case.
 - (2) The director—
 - (a) shall give to the Minister a copy of each guideline or direction furnished or given by the director under subsection (1); and
 - (b) shall include in a report furnished under section 16—
 - (i) a copy of each guideline or direction furnished or given by the director under subsection (1) during the period to which the report relates; and
 - (ii) a copy of each guideline or direction furnished or given by the director under subsection (1) as in force at the end of the period to which the report relates.
 - (3) A guideline furnished under subsection (1) shall not prevent or hinder the discharge of any function or the exercise of any power by a crown prosecutor pursuant to the Criminal Code.

12 Referral of charge to director

Where a person has been charged with an offence and—

- (a) the offence is one in respect of which a direction has been given under section 11(1); or
- (b) the director directs that the matter be referred to the director; or

(c) the complainant or person bringing the charge considers that the matter should be referred to the director—

the complainant or person bringing the charge shall provide to the director—

- (d) a full report of the circumstances of the offence; and
- (e) copies of the statements of all witnesses; and
- (f) copies of all material documents; and
- (g) such other information and material as the director may require.

13 Assistance for director

- (1) This section applies if, in relation to a criminal proceeding under consideration or conducted by the director, a matter arises that requires further investigation.
- (2) For conducting the investigation, the director may ask—
 - (a) the commissioner of the police service for the assistance of a police officer; or
 - (b) the chief executive of the department in which the *Animal Care and Protection Act 2001* is administered for the assistance of a person who is appointed as an inspector under that Act, section 114.
- (3) A request under subsection (2) must be in writing.
- (4) The commissioner of the police service or a chief executive must, as far as possible, comply with a request under subsection (2).

15 Judicial notice of director's signature

All courts, judges and persons acting judicially shall take judicial notice of—

(a) the signature of any person who is or has been the director of public prosecutions or an acting director of public prosecutions on any document; and

[s 16]

(b) the fact that that person is or was the director of public prosecutions or the acting director of public prosecutions, as the case may be.

16 Annual report of director

- (1) As soon as practicable after the end of each financial year, but not later than 31 October, the director must give to the Minister a report of the operations of the Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions during the year.
- (4) The Minister shall cause every report furnished to the Minister under subsection (1) to be laid before the Legislative Assembly within 14 sitting days after the Minister receives the report.

Division 2 Deputy directors of prosecutions

17 Appointment of deputy directors of public prosecutions

The Governor in Council may appoint a person who is an Australian lawyer to be a deputy director of public prosecutions.

19 Conditions of appointment

- (1) A deputy director—
 - (a) shall, subject to subsection (2), be appointed for such term, not exceeding 5 years, as the Governor in Council determines and specifies in the instrument of appointment; and
 - (b) shall, subject to subsection (2), be paid salary and allowances at such rate and be employed upon such conditions, including conditions as to leave entitlements, as the Governor in Council, upon the recommendation of the Minister, from time to time determines; and

[s 20]

- (c) shall be eligible for reappointment upon the expiration of the deputy director's term of appointment or reappointment.
- (2) The deputy director is to be appointed under this Act, and not under the *Public Service Act 2008*.
- (3) In the exercise of the powers and authorities of the Governor in Council referred to in subsection (1) it shall not be mandatory that all appointments or reappointments to the office of deputy director should be for the same term or upon the same conditions as to salary or allowances.

20 Termination of appointments

- (1) A deputy director may resign office by writing signed by the deputy director and given to the Minister.
- (2) A person's appointment as deputy director shall terminate upon the taking effect of the person's appointment to any position in which the person is subject to the *Public Service Act 2008*.

21 Suspension and removal from office

- (1) A deputy director is liable to be suspended without payment of salary or allowances (if any) or removed from office, in accordance with this Act, if the deputy director commits a breach of the conditions upon which the deputy director is for the time being employed in that office.
- (2) The Minister may, by notice signed by the Minister and given to the person to whose suspension it relates, suspend without payment of salary or allowances (if any) from office any deputy director who is liable thereto under subsection (1).
- (3) Where the Minister has given a notice of suspension under subsection (2) the Minister shall, within 14 days after the giving of the notice—
 - (a) furnish to the Governor in Council notification of the suspension and a statement setting out clearly and fully the grounds for the suspension; and

[s 22]

- (b) cause a copy of the statement referred to in paragraph (a) to be given to the person who has been suspended from office and invite that person to show cause in writing to the Minister (in accordance with subsection (4)) why the person should not be removed from office or otherwise dealt with in accordance with section 22.
- (4) The person suspended from office is entitled to show cause as referred to in subsection (3) within 14 days after the person has received the copy statement referred to in that subsection or within such longer period as the Minister may allow in a particular case.

22 Authority of Governor in Council to remove etc.

- (1) If, having regard to the statement of grounds furnished to the Governor in Council in accordance with section 21(3)(a) and the cause (if any) shown in accordance with section 21(4), the Governor in Council is satisfied—
 - (a) that all or any of the grounds have or has been established and are or is such that the person suspended from office should be removed from the office of deputy director; or
 - (b) that all or any of the grounds have or has been established and are or is such that the person suspended from office should be penalised but should not be removed from the office of deputy director; or
 - (c) that none of the grounds has been established, or that all or any of the grounds have or has been established but are or is such that no further action should be taken in respect of the matter;

the Governor in Council shall—

(d) in the case referred to in paragraph (a)—direct that the person concerned be removed from the office of deputy director;

[s 22]

- (e) in the case referred to in paragraph (b)—direct that the suspension in question be terminated and further direct—
 - (i) that the salary of the person concerned be reduced from a date and to a rate specified by the Governor in Council but so that, where a minimum rate of salary is payable to the holder of the office in question, the rate specified shall be not less than that minimum rate; or
 - (ii) that the person concerned be required to pay a sum specified by the Governor in Council not exceeding \$1000, by way of deduction from that person's salary or in such other way as that person nominates; or
 - (iii) that the person concerned be reprimanded or cautioned;
- (f) in the case referred to in paragraph (c)—direct that the suspension in question be terminated.
- (2) A direction given by the Governor in Council under subsection (1) shall be given effect as soon as is practicable and in accordance with law and the Minister shall take or cause to be taken all such steps as are appropriate for that purpose.
- (3) Where a suspension of a person from the office of deputy director has been terminated, otherwise than by the person being removed from the office—
 - (a) the continuity of the person's service in that office shall be taken to have not been broken by reason of the suspension; and
 - (b) subject to giving effect to any direction of the Governor in Council that affects the person's salary or allowances, the person shall be entitled to be paid all salary and allowances (if any) to which the person would have been entitled had the person not been suspended.
- (4) Removal from the office of deputy director under this section shall be by way of notification in writing signed by the

[s 23]

Minister and given to the office holder in question personally or by post.

Division 3 Crown prosecutors and other officers assisting director

23 Appointment of officers

- (1) The following officers may be appointed to assist the director in the discharge of the director's functions—
 - (a) so many Australian lawyers as necessary to be crown prosecutors;
 - (b) so many other officers as necessary.
- (2) An officer appointed for a purpose referred to in subsection (1) is to be appointed under the *Public Service Act 2008*.

Part 3 Miscellaneous

23A Delegation by director

The director may delegate the director's functions and powers under this Act or another Act to an appropriately qualified person.

24 Appointees to offices authorised to present indictments

A person appointed to the office of director, deputy director or crown prosecutor shall be taken to be, by virtue of that appointment and for so long as the person holds that office, an officer appointed by the Governor in Council to present indictments in any court of criminal jurisdiction.

[s 24A]

24A Prohibition on disclosure of information

(1) A person who is or was employed for the purposes of this Act must not disclose confidential information that came to the person's knowledge because of the employment.

Maximum penalty—100 penalty units.

- (2) Subsection (1) applies to information that came to the person's knowledge directly or incidentally because of the employment or because of an opportunity given by the employment.
- (3) However, subsection (1) does not apply to a disclosure by the person of information—
 - (a) under this or another Act; or
 - (b) under a requirement of a court or tribunal.

Example of a disclosure under this Act—

a witness' statement disclosed for the purposes of a trial

- (4) The offence is committed even if—
 - (a) the person knew the information before it came to his or her knowledge because of employment for the purposes of this Act; or
 - (b) the information later stops being confidential.
- (5) In this section—

confidential information, for a person to whom subsection (1) applies, includes information stated to be confidential information for the purposes of this section under a guideline given to the person under section 11(1)(c).

employed includes-

- (a) appointed; and
- (b) engaged; and
- (c) requested to assist under section 13.

[s 24B]

24B Criminal history checks

- (1) The director may ask the commissioner of the police service to give the director a written report about the criminal history of a person employed in, or applying for employment in, the Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions.
- (2) The commissioner must comply with the request.
- (3) Subsection (1) applies to the criminal history in the commissioner's possession or to which the commissioner has access.
- (4) In this section—

criminal history, of a person, means the person's criminal history within the meaning of the *Criminal Law* (*Rehabilitation of Offenders*) Act 1986.

24C Disclosures by police officers

- (1) This section applies if the director is—
 - (a) deciding whether to institute a proceeding; or
 - (b) deciding whether to consent to the institution of a proceeding; or
 - (c) is conducting a proceeding.
- (2) Police officers investigating alleged offences have a duty to disclose to the director all relevant information, documents or other things obtained during the investigation that might tend to help the case for the prosecution or the case for the accused person.
- (3) The duty of disclosure under subsection (2) continues until 1 of the following happens—
 - (a) the director decides the accused person will not be prosecuted for the alleged offence;
 - (b) the prosecution ends, whether by the accused person being discharged, acquitted or convicted, or in another way.

- (4) Any police officer has a duty to disclose to the director an exculpatory thing until 1 of the following happens—
 - (a) the accused person is discharged or acquitted; or
 - (b) the accused person dies.
- (5) In this section—

exculpatory thing, in relation to an accused person, means reliable evidence of a nature to cause a jury to entertain a reasonable doubt as to the guilt of the accused person.

25 Protection of persons executing Act

No act or thing done or omission made by the Minister, the director or any person assisting the director for the purpose of giving effect to this Act or discharging, exercising or performing any function, power, authority or duty under this Act shall subject the Crown, the Minister, the director or any person to liability at law in respect thereof.

27 Director's professional involvement no bar

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), the director shall not be prevented from or limited in discharging the director's functions under this Act by reason that before the director's appointment to the office of director took effect the director had been involved, in the practice of the director's profession, in a matter that at the time the director's appointment took effect had not been finally determined.
- (2) The director—
 - (a) shall not disclose information that came to the director's knowledge before the director's appointment to the office of director took effect, in the practice of the director's profession, concerning a matter that at the time the director's appointment took effect had not been finally determined to any person except—

- (i) the person for whom the director was acting in the matter in the practice of the director's profession; or
- (ii) a legal representative of that person; or
- (iii) a person duly authorised by the person or legal representative referred to in subparagraph (i) or (ii) to receive the information; and
- (b) shall not act personally in respect of any matter in which the director had been involved in the practice of the director's profession before the director's appointment to the office of director took effect and that had not been finally determined at the time the director's appointment took effect.
- (3) Where the director is by this Act precluded from acting personally in respect of any matter a deputy director shall discharge the functions of the director in respect of that matter.

28 Retention of rights as public servant

- (1) Where an officer of the public service is appointed to an office provided for by this Act the officer shall, subject to subsection (2), retain the officer's entitlement to rights that have accrued to the officer as such an officer at the time the officer's appointment takes effect and to other rights including rights in respect of long service leave that would have accrued to the officer remained such an officer.
- (1A) The rights to which a person retains the person's entitlement pursuant to subsection (1) includes the right to apply for and to be appointed to any office within the public service as if the person were then an officer within the public service, if since the person's first appointment to an office provided for by this Act the person has been in continuous employment in an office that is a prescribed office or in offices each of which is a prescribed office.
- (1B) A person who applies for an office within the public service pursuant to subsection (1A) shall for that purpose be deemed

to have seniority in the public service as if, in respect of any period of continuous service in an office or offices provided for by this Act, the person were employed for that period in the position (with such variation (if any) in classification or maximum salary as may from time to time be applicable to a similar position) to which the person was permanently appointed and which the person held within the public service immediately prior to the commencement of that period of service.

- (2) An officer of the public service who is appointed to an office provided for by this Act may, within 6 months after the officer's appointment takes effect, elect in writing given to the Minister to be paid the cash equivalent of all or part of the officer's entitlements to annual recreation leave that have accrued to the officer at the time the officer's appointment takes effect whereupon the officer shall no longer retain the officer's entitlements to such leave to the extent to which the officer has so elected but—
 - (a) if the officer does not so elect; or
 - (b) if the officer so elects in respect of part only of the officer's entitlements to such leave;

the officer shall exercise the officer's entitlements to annual recreation leave or, as the case may be, the balance thereof in accordance with the conditions of employment upon which the officer holds the office provided for by this Act.

(3) Where a person who immediately before the person's appointment to an office provided for by this Act was an officer of the public service again becomes such an officer, if the person has been in continuous employment in a prescribed office or in offices each of which is a prescribed office since the person's first appointment to an office provided for by this Act, the person's service in an office provided for by this Act shall be treated as service in a permanent capacity in the public service for the public service and, subject to subsection (4), the person's seniority in the public service.

[s 29]

(4) For the purpose of determining the seniority in the public service of a person referred to in subsection (3), the person shall be deemed to have held during any period of continuous service in an office or offices provided for by this Act the position (with such variations (if any) in classification or maximum salary as may from time to time be applicable to a similar position) to which the person was permanently appointed and which the person held in the public service immediately prior to the commencement of that period of service.

29 Entitlement of certain persons to appointment under Crown

- (1) Where in respect of a person who, immediately before the person's appointment to an office provided for by this Act, was an officer of the public service and who has been in continuous employment in a prescribed office or in offices each of which is a prescribed office since the person's first appointment to an office provided for by this Act—
 - (a) the person's tenure of an office provided for by this Act that is held by the person has been terminated by the person's resignation; or
 - (b) the person's tenure of an office provided for by this Act that is held by the person has been terminated by the expiration of the term of the person's appointment or reappointment to the office;

then, subject to subsection (2), if before the termination of the person's tenure of the office the person has informed the chief executive in writing of the person's desire to exercise forthwith upon such termination the entitlement conferred by this subsection, or if within 7 days after such termination the person has informed the chief executive in writing of the person's desire to exercise forthwith the entitlement conferred by this subsection, the person is entitled to be appointed to an office in the employment of or under the Crown with a rate of salary and, if that office is within the public service, a classification that are equivalent to the rate of salary and

classification to which, in the opinion of the chief executive, the person would have attained in the ordinary course as an officer of the public service if the person had not been appointed to an office provided for by this Act, and in any case with a rate of salary and, if that office is within the public service, a classification that are at least equivalent to the rate of salary and classification of the office the person held in the public service before the person's appointment to an office under this Act or, if there be more than 1 such appointment, the person's last such appointment.

- (2) If, at the time when tenure of an office provided for by this Act is terminated in a manner referred to in subsection (1) in respect of a person such as is referred to in that subsection, the person is under suspension from office and the Governor in Council has not decided with respect to the person as is prescribed by section 22, then notwithstanding that the tenure of office has been terminated the Governor in Council shall proceed as required by that section and—
 - (a) if the Governor in Council directs that the person ought to have been removed from office—the person shall not have the entitlement prescribed by subsection (1); or
 - (b) if the Governor in Council directs as in the case referred to in section 22(1)(b) or (c)—the person shall be entitled as prescribed by subsection (1) subject, if the direction is made as in the case referred to in section 22(1)(b), to the direction of the Governor in Council, which shall be given effect as if the person had been restored to the office provided for by this Act and previously held by the person.
- (3) Where a person is appointed as an officer within the public service pursuant to this section, for the purposes of this Act, the person's continuous employment in a prescribed office or in offices each of which is a prescribed office shall not be taken to be broken by reason only that the person's employment as an officer of the public service pursuant to an appointment under this section did not commence immediately upon the termination of the person's tenure of an office provided for by this Act.

[s 30]

30 Meaning of expression *prescribed office*

In sections 28 and 29—

prescribed office means an office within the application of the *Public Service Act 2008* or an office provided for by this Act.

31 **Provisions concerning superannuation**

- (1) A person who immediately before the person's appointment to an office provided for by this Act was an officer within the meaning of the *State Service Superannuation Act 1972* shall, while the person continues in an appointment to an office provided for by this Act, be deemed to be employed by or under the Crown in a permanent capacity for the purposes of that Act and the *Public Service Superannuation Act 1958*.
- (2) Where—
 - (a) a person who while the person held an office provided for by this Act was a contributor within the meaning of the *State Service Superannuation Act 1972*; and
 - (b) the tenure of the office of that person has been terminated by reason of the person's resignation from the office or the expiration of the term of the person's appointment or reappointment to the office; and
 - (c) that person is entitled to be such a contributor by reason that the person has duly exercised the person's entitlement conferred by section 29(1);

the termination of the person's tenure of office shall not be taken to be a resignation or dismissal referred to in section 35 of the *State Service Superannuation Act 1972*, the person shall not be taken to have ceased to be a contributor for the purposes of the *Public Service Superannuation Act 1958* by reason of that termination and the person shall be deemed to have continued to be an officer within the meaning of those Acts at all times since that termination.

32 Administrative and financial control

- (1) The chief executive is to be the chief executive within the meaning of the *Public Service Act 2008* for matters of an administrative nature associated with the discharge of the director's functions and in respect of officers appointed under section 23.
- (2) For the purposes of the *Financial Accountability Act 2009* the chief executive shall be the accountable officer in respect of the discharge of the director's functions.
- (3) The director shall do all such things as the chief executive, in the proper performance of the chief executive's duties as such accountable officer, may require for the purposes of that Act.

33 Regulation-making power

The Governor in Council may make regulations under this Act.

34 Director of prosecutions references etc.

A reference in an Act or document to the office or holder of the office of—

- (a) director of prosecutions is taken to be a reference to the office or holder of the office of director of public prosecutions; and
- (b) acting director of prosecutions is taken to be a reference to the acting director of public prosecutions; and
- (c) deputy director of prosecutions is taken to be a reference to the office or holder of the office of deputy director of public prosecutions.

35 Director of Prosecutions Act 1984 references

In an Act or document, a reference to the *Director of Prosecutions Act 1984* is a reference to this Act.

Endnotes

1 Index to endnotes

2 Key

- 3 Table of reprints
- 4 List of legislation
- 5 List of annotations

2 Key

Key to abbreviations in list of legislation and annotations

| Key | Explanation | Key | Explanation |
|-----------|-----------------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------|
| AIA | = Acts Interpretation Act 1954 | (prev) = | - previously |
| amd | = amended | proc = | = proclamation |
| amd t | = amendment | prov = | - provision |
| ch | = chapter | pt = | = part |
| def | = definition | pubd = | = published |
| div | = division | R [X] = | Reprint No. [X] |
| exp | = expires/expired | RA = | Reprints Act 1992 |
| gaz | = gazette | reloc = | - relocated |
| hdg | = heading | renu = m | - renumbered |
| ins | = inserted | rep = | - repealed |
| lap | = lapsed | (retro =) | retrospectively |
| notf d | = notified | rv = | - revised version |
| num | = numbered | s = | section |

| Key o in c | Explanation = order in council | Key sch | Explanation = schedule |
|------------------|-----------------------------------|------------|--|
| om | = omitted | sdiv | = subdivision |
| orig | = original | SIA | = Statutory Instruments Act 1992 |
| р | = page | SIR | = Statutory Instruments Regulation 2012 |
| para | = paragraph | SL | = subordinate legislation |
| prec | = preceding | sub | = substituted |
| pres | = present | unnu m | = unnumbered |

prev = previous

3 Table of reprints

A new reprint of the legislation is prepared by the Office of the Queensland Parliamentary Counsel each time a change to the legislation takes effect.

The notes column for this reprint gives details of any discretionary editorial powers under the **Reprints Act 1992** used by the Office of the Queensland Parliamentary Counsel in preparing it. Section 5(c) and (d) of the Act are not mentioned as they contain mandatory requirements that all amendments be included and all necessary consequential amendments be incorporated, whether of punctuation, numbering or another kind. Further details of the use of any discretionary editorial power noted in the table can be obtained by contacting the Office of the Queensland Parliamentary Counsel by telephone on 3003 9601 or email legislation.queries@oqpc.qld.gov.au.

From 29 January 2013, all Queensland reprints are dated and authorised by the Parliamentary Counsel. The previous numbering system and distinctions between printed and electronic reprints is not continued with the relevant details for historical reprints included in this table.

| Reprint No. | Amendments to | Effective | Reprint date |
|----------------|-----------------|-----------------|------------------|
| 1 | 1990 Act No. 82 | 1 January 1991 | 1 July 1994 |
| 2 | 1994 Act No. 87 | 1 December 1994 | 14 December 1994 |

Endnotes

| Reprint No. | Amendments to | Effective | Reprint date |
|----------------|------------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|
| 2A | 1995 Act No. 58 | 28 November 1995 | 24 June 1996 |
| 2B | 1996 Act No. 37 | 1 December 1996 | 17 January 1997 |
| 2C | 1997 Act No. 82 | 5 December 1997 | 22 December 1997 |
| 3 | 2000 Act No. 58 | 17 November 2000 | 9 February 2001 |
| Reprint No. | Amendments included | Effective | Notes |
| 3A | 2002 Act No. 68 | 1 January 2003 | |
| 3B | 2003 Act No. 13 | 1 December 2003 | |
| 3C | 2003 Act No. 55 | 5 January 2004 | |
| 3D | 2004 Act No. 11 | 1 July 2004 | |
| 3E | 2007 Act No. 24 | 1 July 2007 | R3E withdrawn, see R4 |
| 4 | — | 1 July 2007 | |
| 4A | 2009 Act No. 9 | 1 July 2009 | |
| 4B | 2009 Act No. 25 | 2 November 2009 | |
| 4C | 2010 Act No. 42 | 14 October 2010 | |
| Current | as at | Amendments included | Notes |
| 15 August 2014 | | 2014 Act No. 39 | |

30 March 2017 2017 Act No. 6

4 List of legislation

Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1984 No. 95 (prev Director of Prosecutions Act 1984)

date of assent 6 December 1984

ss 1–2 commenced on date of assent (see s 2(1)) remaining provisions commenced 17 January 1985 (proc pubd gaz 19 January 1985 p 165) amending legislation-Director of Prosecutions Act and Justices Act Amendment Act 1985 No. 25 pt 2 date of assent 15 April 1985 s 7 commenced 17 January 1985 (see s 4) remaining provisions commenced on date of assent Director of Prosecutions Act Amendment Act 1986 No. 9 date of assent 26 March 1986 ss 1-2 commenced on date of assent (see s 2(1)) remaining provisions commenced 1 January 1988 (proc pubd gaz 19 December 1987 p 1665) Public Service Management and Employment Act 1988 No. 52 s 44 sch 3 date of assent 12 May 1988 commenced 18 July 1988 (proc pubd gaz 16 July 1988 p 2876) Public Service (Administrative Arrangements) Act 1990 (No. 2) No. 80 s 3 sch 1 date of assent 14 November 1990 commenced on date of assent Director of Prosecutions Act Amendment Act 1990 No. 82 date of assent 29 November 1990 ss 1-2 commenced on date of assent (see s 2(1)) remaining provisions commenced 1 January 1991 (proc pubd gaz 22 December 1990 p 2271) Statute Law (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act (No. 2) 1994 No. 87 ss 1-3 sch 1 date of assent 1 December 1994 commenced on date of assent (see s 2) Statute Law Revision Act (No. 2) 1995 No. 58 ss 1-2, 4 sch 1 date of assent 28 November 1995 commenced on date of assent Public Service Act 1996 No. 37 ss 1-2, 147 sch 2 date of assent 22 October 1996 ss 1–2 commenced on date of assent remaining provisions commenced 1 December 1996 (1996 SL No. 361) Justice and Other Legislation (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act (No. 2) 1997 No. 82 ss 1-2(1) pt 9 date of assent 5 December 1997 commenced on date of assent Superannuation and Other Legislation Amendment Act 2000 No. 52 ss 1, 48 sch date of assent 17 November 2000 commenced on date of assent Justice and Other Legislation (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2000 No. 58 ss 1-2 sch

Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1984

Endnotes

| date of assent 17 November 2000 commenced on date of assent |
|--|
| Criminal Proceeds Confiscation Act 2002 No. 68 ss 1–2(1), ch 12 pt 5 date of assent 29 November 2002 ss 1–2 commenced on date of assent remaining provisions commenced 1 January 2003 (see s 2(1)) |
| Coroners Act 2003 No. 13 ss 1, 2(2), 106 sch 1 date of assent 9 April 2003 ss 1–2 commence on date of assent remaining provisions commenced 1 December 2003 (2003 SL No. 296) |
| Evidence (Protection of Children) Amendment Act 2003 No. 55 pts 1, 9 date of assent 18 September 2003 ss 1–2 commenced on date of assent remaining provisions commenced 5 January 2004 (2003 SL No. 280) |
| Legal Profession Act 2003 No. 97 ss 1, 2(2), 380 sch 1 date of assent 3 December 2003 ss 1–2 commenced on date of assent remaining provisions never proclaimed into force and rep 2004 No. 11 s 642 |
| Legal Profession Act 2004 No. 11 ss 1, 2(2), 596 sch 1 date of assent 31 May 2004 ss 1–2 commenced on date of assent remaining provisions commenced 1 July 2004 (2004 SL No. 106) |
| Legal Profession Act 2007 No. 24 ss 1–2, 770 sch 1 date of assent 28 May 2007 ss 1–2 commenced on date of assent remaining provisions commenced 1 July 2007 (2007 SL No. 151) |
| Financial Accountability Act 2009 No. 9 ss 1, 2(2), 136 sch 1 date of assent 28 May 2009 ss 1–2 commenced on date of assent remaining provisions commenced 1 July 2009 (2009 SL No. 80) |
| Criminal Code and Other Legislation (Misconduct, Breaches of Discipline and Public Sector Ethics) Amendment Act 2009 No. 25 pt 1, s 83 sch date of assent 11 August 2009 ss 1–2 commenced on date of assent remaining provisions commenced 2 November 2009 (2009 SL No. 241) |
| Justice and Other Legislation Amendment Act 2010 No. 42 ss 1, 214 sch date of assent 14 October 2010 commenced on date of assent |
| Criminal Law Amendment Act 2014 No. 39 s 1, pt 8 date of assent 15 August 2014 commenced on date of assent |
| Criminal Law Amendment Act 2017 No. 6 |

date of assent 30 March 2017 pts 1, 5 commenced on date of assent

5 List of annotations

Long title amd 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1

Short title

s 1 amd 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1

Commencement

s 2 om 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Arrangement

s 3 om 1990 No. 82 s 4

Definitions

def *Australian lawyer* ins 2004 No. 11 s 596 sch 1 amd 2007 No. 24 s 770 sch 1 def *director* amd 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1 def *Director-General* ins 1990 No. 80 s 3 sch 1 om R1 (see RA s 39) def *lawyer* ins 2004 No. 11 s 596 sch 1 amd 2007 No. 24 s 770 sch 1 def *Minister* sub 1990 No. 80 s 3 sch 1 om R1 (see RA s 39) def *Public Service Board* om 1988 No. 52 s 44 sch 3 def *Under Secretary* amd 1988 No. 52 s 44 sch 3 om 1990 No. 80 s 3 sch 1 **s 4** amd1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

PART 2—OFFICE OF DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC PROSECUTIONS pt hdg amd 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1

- Division 1—Director of Public Prosecutions and Office div hdg sub 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1
- The Director of Public Prosecutions and Office s 4A ins 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1
- Division 1A—Provisions about director of public prosecutions div hdg ins 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1

Appointment of director

s 5 amd 1988 No. 52 s 44 sch 3; 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1; 1996 No. 37 s 147 sch 2; 2004 No. 11 s 596 sch 1; 2009 No. 25 s 83 sch

- **Termination of director's appointment s 6** amd 1985 No. 25 s 5
- Division of legal profession inapplicable s 8 om 2004 No. 11 s 596 sch 1

Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1984

Endnotes

| Acting appointment s 9 om 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1 |
|---|
| Functions of director s 10 amd 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1; 2003 No. 13 s 106 sch 1; 2003 No. 55 s 50; 2004 No. 11 s 596 sch 1; 2010 No. 42 s 214 sch |
| Guidelines by Attorney-General s 10A ins 2002 No. 68 s 312 |
| Powers of director s 11 amd 1997 No. 82 s 27 |
| Assistance for director s 13 sub 2014 No. 39 s 45 |
| Director is a Crown Law Officer s 14 om 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1 |
| Judicial notice of director's signature s 15 amd 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1 |
| Annual report of director s 16 amd 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1 (2)–(3) exp 1 November 1995 (see s 16(3)) |
| Division 2—Deputy directors of prosecutions div hdg amd 1990 No. 82 s 8 sch |
| Appointment of deputy directors of public prosecutions s 17 sub 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1 amd 2004 No. 11 s 596 sch 1 |
| Appointment of crown prosecutors s 18 om 1990 No. 82 s 5 |
| Conditions of appointment s 19 amd 1988 No. 52 s 44 sch 3; 1990 No. 82 s 8 sch; 1996 No. 37 s 147 sch 2; 2009 No. 25 s 83 sch |
| Termination of appointments s 20 amd 1990 No. 82 s 8 sch; 1996 No. 37 s 147 sch 2; 2009 No. 25 s 83 sch |
| Suspension and removal from office s 21 amd 1985 No. 25 s 6; 1986 No. 9 s 3; 1990 No. 82 s 8 sch |
| Authority of Governor in Council to remove etc. s 22 amd 1986 No. 9 s 4; 1990 No. 82 s 8 sch |
| Division 3—Crown prosecutors and other officers assisting director div hdg amd 1990 No. 82 s 8 sch |
| Appointment of officers s 23 sub 1990 No. 82 s 6 amd 1996 No. 37 s 147 sch 2; 2004 No. 11 s 596 sch 1; 2009 No. 25 s 83 sch |

Delegation by director s 23A ins 2017 No. 6 s 25

Prohibition on disclosure of information s 24A ins 1997 No. 82 s 28

Criminal history checks s 24B ins 2000 No. 58 s 2 sch

Disclosures by police officers s 24C ins 2003 No. 55 s 51

Assumption of responsibility by director s 26 om 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Director's professional involvement no bar s 27 amd 2010 No. 42 s 214 sch

Retention of rights as public servant s 28 amd 1986 No. 9 s 5

Entitlement of certain persons to appointment under Crown s 29 amd 1986 No. 9 s 6; 1988 No. 52 s 44 sch 3; 1990 No. 80 s 3 sch 1; 2010 No. 42 s 214 sch

Meaning of expression prescribed office s 30 amd 1996 No. 37 s 147 sch 2; 2009 No. 25 s 83 sch

Provisions concerning superannuation s 31 amd 2000 No. 52 s 48 sch

Administrative and financial control s 32 amd 1990 No. 80 s 3 sch 1; 1990 No. 82 s 7; 1996 No. 37 s 147 sch 2; 2009 No. 9 s 136 sch 1; 2009 No. 25 s 83 sch

Regulation-making power s 33 sub 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Director of prosecutions references etc.

s 34 prev s 34 amd 1985 No. 25 s 7 pres s 34 ins 1994 No. 87 s 3 sch 1 amd sub 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

Director of Prosecutions Act 1984 references s 35 ins 1995 No. 58 s 4 sch 1

© State of Queensland 2017